#### **CASE NO. 73117**

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA Oct 23 2017 02:22 p.m.

Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

KOFI SARFO, M.D., an individual,

Appellant,

v.

# STATE BOARD OF MEDICAL EXAMINERS,

Respondent.

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On appeal from the Eight Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada District Court Case No. A-17-752616-W The Honorable Michael Villani

#### **HAFTERLAW**

JACOB L. HAFTER, Esq. Nevada Bar Number 9303 6851 W. Charleston Boulevard Las Vegas, Nevada 89117 jhafter@hafterlaw.com

October 18, 2017

### **NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE**

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Nev.R.App.P. 3A(b)(3), as the order appealed is an order refusing to grant injunctive relief.

The Order being appealed was issued on or about May 9, 2017, by the Honorable Michael Villani of the Eighth Judicial District Court for the State of Nevada. See Joint Appendix ("SARFO") at 266 – 269 (Vol.1).

Appellant timely filed a Notice of Appeal on May 22, 2017. SARFO\_359 (Vol. 2).

#### NRAP 28(a)(5) ROUTING STATEMENT

This case involves fundamental questions of how physician discipline cases are initiated in Nevada. It is alleged that the Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners ("Board"), fails to provide physicians with adequate notice of the allegations made against a physician when it initiates an investigation against the physician. Accordingly, as this case raises issues related to due process and public policy, this case should be retained under NRAP 17(a)(13) and (14).

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

This appeal asks this Court to find that the district court erred for the following reasons:

- 1. The district court extended this Court's decision in Hernandez v. Bennet-Haron, 287 P.3.d 305, 128 Nev.Adv.Op 54 (2012), to support a determination that due process protections need not be made available in disciplinary investigations conducted by the Board, even though in this case, the entity that is conducting the investigation, the Investigatory Committee of the Board, has the authority to file administrative charges against Dr. Sarfo, the target of the investigation;
- 2. The district court erred in determining that the confidentiality provisions of NRS §630.336(4) are so broad that they prevent the physician who is the target of an investigation from obtaining a copy of the complaint made against the physician; and
- 3. The district court erred in awarding the Board attorney's fees and costs in this case when Dr. Sarfo was confronted with an overly broad investigation where he was not provided adequate notice of the allegations made against him.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case challenges the McCarthyistic tactics of the Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners ("Board") in their initial investigation of complaints received by a third party. Specifically, the Board has a known practice where they retain any complaints received by a third party against a physician as confidential, refusing to even provide the target physician a copy of the complaint. Rather, the Board will notify the licensee that a complaint has been filed, provides a cursory summary of the allegations made in the complaint, and asserts that a violation of the Medical Practice Act, NRS Chapter 630, et. seq., occurred. Based on this scant disclosure, the Board then demanded, through both a written letter request, and a formal Board order, that the physician provide the complete medical records of various patients related to the complaint and a statement as to how the licensee did **not** violate the Medical Practice Act, with respect to the identified patients. These requests were open ended as to both the allegations and time.

The Board took the position that disclosure of the actual complaint received to Dr. Sarfo would violate the confidentiality provisions of NRS \$630.336(4); this practice misconstrues the Legislative intent behind NRS \$630.336(4). This practice also violates this State's physicians' procedural due process rights, destroys any safeguards that may otherwise be in place in

the investigation and discipline of physicians, and empowers the Board to engage in overly broad investigatory requests that not only exceed the scope of the third party complaint but are harassing and overly burdensome to this State's physicians. As a result, the Board uses this insufficient notice to springboard into a fishing expedition, using anything in the physicians medical records to substantiate a claim of wrongdoing, leading to the filing of a formal complaint, where they can assess the physician fees and costs, most of which are used to offset the salaries (and justify the need for) the investigators and attorneys that oversee this entire process.

Accordingly, upon receiving such an investigatory letter, Dr. Sarfo tried to work out his concerns with the Board; when that was not successful, Dr. Sarfo filed the instant writ petition and an immediate motion for injunctive relief, preventing the compliance with the Board's administrative order demanding various productions in a very limited time frame. Upon filing the motion for injunctive relief, the Board did, finally, enter into a stipulation to delay the deadline for compliance with the Board order and limiting the scope of the request for records, however, refused to provide more information about the complaint.

The district court denied the motion for injunctive relief, finding that Dr. Sarfo is not entitled to due process protections in the investigatory phase

of a Board investigation. The district court further found that the confidentiality provisions of NRS §630.336(4) are so broad that even the target physician who is the subject of a complaint is not entitled to receive a copy of that complaint.

The district court then added insult to injury when it awarded the Board attorney's fees and costs, finding that this case was frivolous, despite the fact that there is a plethora of case law that supports physicians' due process rights in administrative proceedings and the complete lack of case law related to this issue.

# STATEMENT OF THE PERTINENT FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES SUBMITTED FOR REVIEW

The following facts are supported by Dr. Sarfo's declaration, SARFO\_102-106 (Vol. 1), the letter sent by Don Andreas on March 14, 2017, SARFO\_108-109 (Vol. 1), the Order from the Investigative Committee dated March 14, 2017, SARFO\_111-112 (Vol. 1), <sup>1</sup> and Dr. Sarfo's March 16, 2017, response, SARFO\_114-116 (Vol. 1):

Query whether such was a final order that was subject to judicial review pursuant to NRS §630.356(1). Because those orders are usually orders that are issued at the end of a disciplinary matter, it was believed that the Order issued by the Board was not such an order that would entitled Dr. Sarfo to

- 1. Dr. Sarfo is licensed as a physician in the State of Nevada and has been since 2004.
- 2. Dr. Sarfo has an extensive history with baseless investigations conducted by the Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners ("Board").
- 3. The Board was a serial filer of investigatory and administrative cases against him from the years 2010 until 2014.
- 4. The Board filed an investigative case against Dr. Sarfo in 2010 (Case #10-12353).
- 5. The Board filed an investigative case against Dr. Sarfo in 2011 (Case # 11-13343).
- 6. The Board filed a two investigative cases against Dr. Sarfo in 2012 (Case #s 12-13762, 12-14231), as well as a formal administrative complaint against him in the same year (Case #12-29257-1).
- 7. The Board filed an investigative case against Dr. Sarfo in 2014 (Case #14-15034).
- 8. All of these complaints were initiated through overly broad investigatory letters requesting unlimited medical records for an uncertain period of time.

judicial review; hence, the instant writ petition was filed as a way of challenging that order.

- 9. Despite all of these cases, only the administrative case (#12-29257-1) resulted in any discipline.
- 10. In that case, the Board publicly alleged numerous violations of Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) Chapter 630, against Dr. Sarfo, including six (6) violations of NRS 630.301(4), malpractice, as defined by Nevada Administrative Code §630.040, and one (1) violation of NRS §630.3062(1), keeping legible and complete medical records.
- 11. Dr. Sarfo suffered severe hardships once this complaint was made public. He had to disclose the complaint to all hospitals where he had privileges, as well as all insurers with whom he contracted to provide medical services.
- 12. This one administrative complaint, alone, jeopardized his ability to work at various hospitals and surgery centers, as well as his ability to remain under contract with various payors.
- 13. Ultimately, that case ended when Dr. Sarfo entered a no contest plea for <u>one</u> (1) count of failure to maintain timely, legible, accurate and complete medical records relating to the diagnosis, treatment and care of a patient, a violation of NRS 630.3062(1). For this, he received a public reprimand and was required to pay the Board's investigatory costs for this case.

- 14. During this time period, Dr. Sarfo had troubles transitioning from paper charts to electronic medical records (a problem that was not unique to Dr. Sarfo) causing some of his records to be lost, disorganized or otherwise incomplete. This was an administrative issue which his practice worked hard to resolve; one that the Board was completely aware of while it was ongoing.
- 15. On March 15, 2017, Dr. Sarfo received a letter from Don Andreas, Deputy Chief of Investigations for the Board.
- 16. In this March 15, 2017, letter Dr. Sarfo was asked to provide a "written response" to allegations that he engaged "poor documentation, fail[ure] to keep legible, accurate and complete medical records, and …billing for services not rendered" for five patients.
- 17. Included with the letter as an Order from the Investigative Committee, demanding that he provide the "complete" medical records for these five patients.
- 18. No other information was provided about the allegations or the complaint which was the catalyst for Mr. Andreas' March 14, 2017, letter.
- 19. Dr. Sarfo is very familiar with these patients, as he has a longstanding relationship with them.

- 20. Dr. Sarfo has spoken to these patients and they deny making any complaints to the Board; in fact, four of the five have offered to write letters of support of him in this matter.
- 21. Coincidentally, these patients all have a certain type of insurance with a certain insurance carrier, a carrier with whom Dr. Sarfo has been battling for years to simply be paid for the services that he has rendered to their patients.
- 22. This carrier refuses to pay for services he renders to their patients, or, when they do pay, they pay less than the contracted amount, or, they will pay only to later seek to take back those payments on some technicality or falsified claim.
- 23. Dr. Sarfo has reported their malfeasance to the Department of Insurance.
- 24. Dr. Sarfo believes that the insurance company is the origin of the complaint in this new Board matter and has done so simply to cause him aggravation, cost him money in legal fees and costs and, potentially, to jeopardize his ability to practice medicine in this State.
- 25. Dr. Sarfo was concerned that if he released these records, without any limitation to duration of time or the like, the Board will find any reason to use them against him, including the issues with documentation from years ago which he has already addressed with the Board.

26. Dr. Sarfo has responded to the Board's inquiry, but refused to provide the unfettered medical records.<sup>2</sup>

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court erred in this case because it extended this Court's decision in Hernandez v. Bennet-Haron, 287 P.3.d 305, 128 Nev.Adv.Op 54 (2012), to support a determination that due process protections need not be made available in disciplinary investigations conducted by the Board. This was an error, as the district court failed to recognize that unlike in Hernandez, the entity that is conducting the investigation in this case, the Investigatory Committee of the Board, has the authority to file administrative charges against a target physician, and is the entity that actually prosecutes the administrative complaints filed against physicians.

The district court further erred in determining that the confidentiality provisions of NRS §630.336(4) are so broad that they prevent the physician who is the target of an investigation from obtaining a copy of the complaint made against the physician. Sharing a third party complaint with the target of

Dr. Sarfo has since made the disclosure of the requested records covering a limited two (2) year period of time – a limitation that was only effectuated as a result of this case being filed in the district court and the stipulation that came therefrom. See SARFO\_147 – 150 (Vol. 1).

the complaint so he or she can provide an adequate response does not destroy the confidentiality of the investigation.

Finally, the district court erred in awarding the Board attorney's fees and costs in this case because Dr. Sarfo did obtain partial relief from this action – the Board agreed to limit the requested medical records to a two year period of time. Prior to filing this action, the Board refused to alter their demand for medical records. Additionally, while there is ample case law regarding the need to provide physicians with due process protections, there is no case law on this issue; hence, Dr. Sarfo filed the action in good faith.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

As this Court has stated in a similar case denying a motion for preliminary injunction related to the Board's attempt to discipline a physician, this Court "review[s] appeals from district court decisions regarding petitions for judicial review under the same standard utilized by the district court." <u>Tate v. State Board of Medical Examiners</u>, 356 P.3d 506, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 67 (Nev., 2015) (*citing* Nassiri v. Chiropractic Physicians' Bd., — Nev. —, , — —, 327 P.3d 487, 489 (2014)). This Court will "review factual determinations for clear error, we review questions of law, including statutory construction, de novo." <u>Id</u>. Whether a statute is unconstitutional is a question

of law, reviewed de novo. <u>Flamingo Paradise Gaming, LLC v. Chanos</u>, 125 Nev. 502, 509, 217 P.3d 546, 551 (2009). Words in a statute should be accorded their plain meaning unless doing so would be contrary to the spirit of the statute. *See* <u>Berkson v. LePome</u>, 126 Nev. 492, 497, 245 P.3d 560, 563 (2010). Statutes should be construed so as to avoid absurd results. *See* <u>State v. Tatalovich</u>, —Nev. —, 309 P.3d 43, 44 (2013). Absent a contrary and specific constitutional limitation, "statutes are to be construed in favor of the legislative power." <u>Galloway v. Truesdell</u>, 83 Nev. 13, 20, 422 P.2d 237, 242 (1967).

A preliminary injunction is available when it appears from the complaint that the moving party has a reasonable likelihood of success on the merits and the nonmoving party's conduct, if allowed to continue, will cause the moving party irreparable harm for which compensatory relief is inadequate. NRS §33.010; Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. v. Nevadans for Sound Gov't, 120 Nev. 712, 721, 100 P.3d 179, 187 (2004). As a constitutional violation may be difficult or impossible to remedy through money damages, such a violation may, by itself, be sufficient to constitute irreparable harm. See Monterey Mech. Co. v. Wilson, 125 F.3d 702, 715 (9th Cir.1997). Whether to grant or deny a preliminary injunction is within the district court's discretion. Nevadans for Sound Gov't, 120 Nev. at 721, 100 P.3d at 187. In

the context of an appeal from a preliminary injunction, this Court reviews questions of law de novo and the district court's factual findings for clear error or a lack of substantial evidentiary support. <u>Id</u>.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# A. A PHYSICIAN MUST HAVE PROPER DUE PROCESS PROTECTIONS IN ALL ASPECTS OF THE PHYSICIAN DISCIPLINE PROCESS

The Fourteenth Amendment prevents states from depriving individuals of protected liberty or property interests without affording those individuals procedural due process. Board of Regents of State Colls. v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 569, 92 S.Ct. 2701, 33 L.Ed.2d 548 (1972). With procedural due process claims, the deprivation of the protected interest "is not in itself unconstitutional; what is unconstitutional is the deprivation of such an interest without due process of law." Zinermon v. Burch, 494 U.S. 113, 125, 110 S.Ct. 975, 108 L.Ed.2d 100 (1990). Before being deprived of a protected interest, a person must be afforded some kind of hearing, "except for extraordinary situations where some valid government interest is at stake that justifies postponing the hearing until after the event." Boddie v. Connecticut, 401 U.S. 371, 378-79, 91 S.Ct. 780, 28 L.Ed.2d 113 (1971).

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - 13

In evaluating procedural due process claims, the Court must engage in a two-step inquiry: (1) the Court must ask whether the state has interfered with a protected liberty or property interest; and (2) the Court must determine whether the procedures "attendant upon that deprivation were constitutionally sufficient." Humphries v. County of Los Angeles, 554 F.3d 1170, 1184-85 (9th Cir.2009) (*quoting* Ky. Dep't of Corr. v. Thompson, 490 U.S. 454, 460, 109 S.Ct. 1904, 104 L.Ed.2d 506 (1989)).

#### 1. The Protected Property Interest

"No one may be required at peril of life, liberty or property to speculate as to the meaning of penal statutes. All are entitled to be informed as to what the State commands or forbids." <a href="Lanzetta v. New Jersey">Lanzetta v. New Jersey</a>, 306 U.S. 451, 453 (1939). It is well-established that a fundamental right may not be impaired without due process of law. <a href="Chudacoff v. Univ. Med. Ctr. of S. Nev.">Chudacoff v. Univ. Med. Ctr. of S. Nev.</a>, 609 F.Supp.2d 1163, 1172–73 (D.Nev.2009); <a href="Maiola v. State">Maiola v. State</a>, 120 Nev. 671, 674–75, 99 P.3d 227, 229 (2004). Moreover, the Nevada Supreme Court has recognized that a physician's interest in practicing medicine is a property right that must be afforded due process. <a href="Minton v. Board of Med. Exam'rs">Minton v. Board of Med. Exam'rs</a>, 110 Nev. 1060 1082, 881 P.2d 1339, 1354 (1994), <a href="disapproved of on other grounds by Nassiri v. Chiropractic Physicians' Bd., 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 27, 327">D.Nev. Adv. Op. 27, 327</a>

P.3d 487, 489 (2014); Molnar v. State ex rel. Board of Med. Exam'rs of the State of Nev., 105 Nev. 213, 216, 773 P.2d 726, 727 (1989); Potter v. State Board of Med. Exam'rs, 101 Nev. 369, 371, 705 P.2d 132, 134 (1985); Kassabian v. State Board of Medical Examiners, 68 Nev. 455, 464, 235 P.2d 327 331 (1951).

#### 2. Whether the Procedures Were Constitutionally Sufficient

The amount of process that is due is a "flexible concept that varies with the particular situation." Zinermon, *supra*, 494 U.S. at 127, 110 S.Ct. 975. The Court tests this concept by weighing several factors:

First, the private interest that will be affected by the official action; second, the risk of an erroneous deprivation of such interest through the procedures used, and the probable value, if any, of additional or substitute procedural safeguards; and finally, the Government's interest, including the function involved and the fiscal and administrative burdens that the additional or substitute procedural requirement would entail.

Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 335, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976).

The private interest at stake here is the ability to practice medicine within the State of Nevada. The interest extends further, however, in that a licensing action in one jurisdiction could limit a physician's ability to practice

anywhere in the country, as most jurisdictions have reciprocal discipline amongst physicians. To that end, the amount of process must accord sufficient respect for a professional's life and livelihood.

Next, the risk of an erroneous deprivation is also significant, as an improper licensing action would have dramatic consequences for the physician. Additionally, the Board, as an agency that serves to protect the public, only serves as a reliable source of information if it receives accurate reports; an erroneous report reduces the Board's utility. As a result, there are substantial benefits to having procedural safeguards in place to protect both the physician and the Board from erroneous or improper reporting. Both are best served by having the safeguards in place on the front-end of the decision-making process; neither is served by remedial provisions. Once the damage is done, it is hard to undo.

For these reasons, "[d]ue process requires notice 'reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections.'" <u>United Student Aid Funds, Inc. v. Espinosa</u>, — U.S. ——, 130 S.Ct. 1367 1378, 176 L.Ed.2d 158 (2010) (*quoting* <u>Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Trust Co.</u>, 339 U.S. 306, 314, 70 S.Ct. 652, 94 L.Ed. 865 (1950)). It is for this reason that notice of actually allegations is a fundamental requisite

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