#### 1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 2 3 KOFI SARFO, M.D., Supreme Court No. 73117 4 **Electronically Filed** Appellant, Nov 22 2017 01:15 p.m. 5 VS. Elizabeth A. Brown THE NEVADA STATE BOARD OF Clerk of Supreme Court 6 MEDICAL EXAMINERS, 7 Respondent. 8 9 RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF 10 ROBISON, SIMONS, SHARP & BRUST 11 A Professional Corporation 71 Washington Street Reno, Nevada 89503 12 13 14 MICHAEL SULLIVAN, ESQ. (#5142) 15 THERESE M. SHANKS, ESQ. (#12890) Attorneys for Respondent Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28

1

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The District Court did not abuse its discretion in denying Dr. Sarfo's motion for a preliminary injunction because Dr. Sarfo cannot prevail on the merits of his due process claim. Dr. Sarfo argues that he has been deprived of due process by the investigation of the Board. However, to bring a due process challenge, Dr. Sarfo must show that a protected property interest is at stake. Because no formal complaint has been filed against Dr. Sarfo to initiate a disciplinary proceeding, Dr. Sarfo's medical license is not at stake and Dr. Sarfo cannot suffer an infringement of a property interest sufficient to support a due process challenge.

In addition, this Court has held that due process protections do not attach to the fact-finding and investigatory functions of state administrative agencies. *Hernandez*, 128 Nev. at 592-93, 287 P.3d at 314. Dr. Sarfo challenges the investigatory functions of the I.C., which cannot take any disciplinary action against Dr. Sarfo under his license; only the full Board itself can do that, after a full hearing and formal adjudication. Under NRS Chapter 630, the Board may discipline Dr. Sarfo under his license only if a

The Board may also take disciplinary action against a physician if the physician enters into a settlement agreement which is approved by the Board.

formal complaint is filed upon completion of the I.C.'s investigation, and then after a full hearing before the Board occurs. No member of the I.C. who participated in the investigation is permitted to render a decision during the hearing process. The I.C.'s investigation, and its lawful order to produce medical records, is unequivocally an investigative – not adjudicatory – function. Thus, the District Court correctly found that this Court's holding in *Hernandez v. Bennett-Haron*, 128 Nev. 580, 287 P.3d 305 (2012) governs this case and defeats Dr. Sarfo's claims. Application of the *Hernandez* case to the facts of this appeal is consistent with the holdings of other states addressing similar challenges made by physicians to medical board investigations.

Finally, Dr. Sarfo cannot demonstrate a threat of irreparable harm sufficient to support a request for injunctive relief. Because no formal disciplinary proceeding has been commenced, Dr. Sarfo's medical license is not currently at stake and any threat of harm of losing his license is purely speculative. Furthermore, the law is clear that a threat to reputation or the ability to earn income, alone, is not "irreparable harm." For these reasons, the District Court's order should be affirmed.

Regarding attorney fees, Dr. Sarfo's challenge to the District Court's award of attorney fees is not properly before this Court because Dr. Sarfo never independently appealed either the minute order or the formal order.

Should this Court choose to address these arguments, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in awarding the Board attorney fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b). Contrary to Dr. Sarfo's contention, the Board is a "prevailing party" because it succeeded on a significant issue in the litigation, i.e., obtaining a ruling that Dr. Sarfo's underlying writ petition fails as a matter of law. Furthermore, there is substantial evidence in the record demonstrating that this lawsuit was brought merely to harass the Board. Accordingly, the District Court's order should be affirmed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING DR. SARFO'S MOTION FOR A PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION.

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews district court orders denying motions for preliminary injunctions for an abuse of discretion. *Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. of Nev. v. Nevadans for Sound Gov't*, 120 Nev. 712, 721, 100 P.3d 179, 187 (2004). "Factual determinations will be set aside only when clearly erroneous or not supported by substantial evidence, but questions of law are reviewed de novo." *Id.* 

A preliminary injunction is only available "upon a showing that the party seeking it enjoys a reasonable probability of success on the merits and that the defendant's conduct, if allowed to continue, will result in irreparable

harm for which compensatory damages is an inadequate remedy." *Sobol v. Capital Mgmt.*, 102 Nev. 444, 446, 726 P.2d 335, 337 (1986); *see also* NRS 33.010. The court must "weigh the potential hardships to the relative parties, and the public interest" in determining whether to grant injunctive relief. *Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. of Nev.*, 120 Nev. at 721, 100 P.3d at 187.

#### B. DR. SARFO CANNOT PREVAIL ON THE MERITS.

The District Court did not abuse its discretion in denying Dr. Sarfo's motion for a preliminary injunction because: (1) no property interest is at stake during an agency's preliminary investigation that supports a due process challenge; (2) due process does not attach to administrative agency investigation and fact-finding functions; and (3) the Board is prohibited by statute from providing Dr. Sarfo with a copy of the actual complaint.

1. No Property Interest Is at Stake During an Agency's Preliminary Investigation that Supports a Due Process Challenge.

Because no formal complaint has been filed against Dr. Sarfo, Dr. Sarfo lacks standing to assert a due process challenge as his medical license is not currently at stake. To bring a due process challenge, the party must show that a protected property interest is implicated. *Board of Regents of State Coll. v. Roth*, 408 U.S. 564, 571, 92 S. Ct. 2701, 2706 (1972); *see also Hernandez*, 128 Nev. at 587, 287 P.3d at 310 (recognizing that the

(775) 329-3151

similarities between the Federal and State Constitutions allowed the Court to look to federal precedent for guidance in due process challenges). Although Nevada has recognized that a license to practice medicine is a protectable property interest, *Minton v. Bd. of Med. Exam'rs*, 110 Nev. 1060, 1082, 881 P.2d 1339, 1354 (1994) (disapproved on other grounds by *Nassiri v. Chiropractic Physicians' Bd.*, 130 Nev., Adv. Op. 27, 327 P.3d 487 (2014)), Dr. Sarfo cannot show that his license to practice medicine is at risk because the I.C. has no authority to take disciplinary action against Dr. Sarfo's license.

A procedural due process challenge to a medical board's investigation of a physician is not a novel concept. These challenges are uniformly rejected because no property interest in a license is at stake when the medical board is merely investigating the merits of a complaint filed against a physician by a member of the public. *See, e.g., Smith v. Bd. of Med. Quality Assurance*, 248 Cal. Rptr. 704, 710 (Ct. App. 1988); *Alexander D. v. State Bd. of Dental Exam'rs*, 282 Cal. Rptr. 201, 204 (Ct. App. 1991); *Humenansky v. Minn. Bd. of Med. Examiners*, 525 N.W. 2d 559, 566 (Minn. Ct. App. 1994).

In *Smith*, the California Court of appeals rejected a physician's argument that the California Board of Medical Quality Assurance's investigation of a complaint of incompetence against the physician violated his procedural due process rights because the board's "proceedings were

conducted to determine whether there was reasonable cause to believe that Smith was an incompetent physician," and the investigation "was not a disciplinary proceeding and Smith's license was not immediately at stake." 248 Cal. Rptr. at 710. The Court reasoned that "[u]ntil a formal accusation is filed against a physician [by the Board], his or her license is valid." *Id.* Similarly in *Alexander D.*, the California Court of Appeals rejected a dentist's argument that the California Board of Dental Examiners violated the dentist's due process rights when it investigated a complaint of mental incompetency filed against the dentist because his "property interest or license" was not at stake in the preliminary investigatory proceedings. 282 Cal. Rptr. at 204.

In *Humenansky*, the Minnesota Court of Appeals rejected the argument that a physician's due process rights were violated by the Minnesota Board of Medical Examiner's investigation against her because "Humenansky's license to practice medicine is not immediately at stake in [the] investigatory proceeding." 525 N.W.2d at 566. Although licenses to practice medicine are also recognized as a property right in Minnesota, the Minnesota court found that the investigation had a pure "investigatory purpose" under the relevant Minnesota statutes, and that the board "has not yet decided to pursue discipline against Humenansky." *Id.* Because the physician faced "no potential discipline until the board begins formal adjudicatory proceedings,"

the Court found that the physician's license was not at risk so as to support a due process challenge. *Id*.

Similarly, here, Dr. Sarfo's license to practice medicine remains valid and unimpaired during the pending of the I.C.'s investigation. See NRS Chapter 630. The I.C. has not yet decided whether there is merit to the complaint against Dr. Sarfo that would warrant the I.C. filing of a formal complaint, which would initiate a formal disciplinary proceeding. The I.C. has no authority to revoke or take any other such disciplinary action against Dr. Sarfo's medical license; instead, Dr. Sarfo may only be disciplined by the Board itself (not the I.C.) after an extensive hearing process. See NRS 630.352(1) (prohibiting the I.C. from participating in the decision making process). Because Dr. Sarfo's license is valid and unimpaired, Dr. Sarfo cannot demonstrate an infringement upon a protectable interest sufficient to support a due process challenge. Thus, Dr. Sarfo's due process challenge fails. 111 111 ///

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Nor can Dr. Sarfo argue that the investigation places a "stigma" upon him that affects his medical license. "Injury to reputation alone is not a liberty interest protected under the Fourteenth Amendment." *Neal v. Fields*, 429 F.3d 1165, 1167 (8th Cir. 2005) (holding that an investigation of a nurse by the nursing board did not violate the nurse's procedural due process rights).

## 2. Due Process Does Not Attach to Administrative Agency Investigations and Fact-Finding Functions.

The Nevada Constitution prohibits the deprivation of property without due process of law. Nev. Const. art. 1, § 8(5). However, due process is limited in the context of administrative agency proceedings. *See Hernandez*, 128 Nev. at 587, 287 P.3d at 310-311. "When a government agency is conducting proceedings, due process mandates that the protections afforded depend on whether the proceedings result in a binding adjudication or a determination of legal rights, in which case due process protections are greater." *Id.* "Such protections, however, need not be made available in proceedings that merely involve fact-finding or investigatory exercise by the government agency." *Id.* at 587, 287 P.3d at 311 (emphasis added).

In *Hernandez*, this Court held that the county coroner's investigation of officer-involved deaths to determine whether excessive force was used did not trigger due process rights because the county coroner merely acted as an investigator and was not tasked with adjudicating formal disciplinary proceedings of the officers involved in the incident. *Id.* at 313-314. In reaching this holding, this Court relied on the substantial body of federal law which provides that "investigations conducted by administrative agencies, even though they may lead to criminal prosecutions, do not trigger due process rights." *Aponte v. Calderon*, 284 F.3d 184, 193 (1st Cir. 2002). The

federal courts reason that "when governmental action does not partake of an adjudication, as for example, when a general fact-finding investigation is being conducted, it is not necessary that the full panoply of judicial procedures be used." *Hannah v. Larche*, 363 U.S. 420, 442, 80 S. Ct. 1502, 1514-15 (1960); *see also S.E.C. v. Jerry T. O'Brien, Inc.*, 467 U.S. 735, 742, 104 S. Ct. 2720, 2725 (1984) (holding that due process rights are not invoked in the context of administrative investigations and investigatory subpoenas if no legal rights are adjudicated).

Unlike the county coroner in *Hernandez*, the I.C. has the ability to file a formal complaint to initiate an adjudicatory proceeding before the Board. *See* NRS 630.311(2). However, the I.C. cannot participate in the decision-making process on that complaint. NRS 630.352(1). Even where administrative agencies have statutory authority to both investigate and initiate adjudicatory proceedings, federal and state courts uniformly hold that no due process protections attach to the investigatory portion of an agency's process *unless* and until a formal adjudication is commenced. *See Ramirez-De Leon v. Mujica-Cotto*, 345 F. Supp. 2d 174, 188 (D.P.R. 2004) ("This means that investigations, alone, do not trigger due process rights; there must also be an adjudication."); *see also U.S. v. E. River Hous. Corp.*, 90 F. Supp. 3d 118, 136-37 (S.D.N.Y. 2015) (holding that no due process rights attached during

the HUD's investigation of a charge of discrimination, until after the HUD initiated a formal adjudicatory proceeding); *S.E.C. v. OKC Corp.*, 474 F.

Supp. 1031, 1041 (N.D. Tex. 1979) (holding that a defendant does not have full due process rights until the SEC, pursuant to its investigation, either files a complaint or makes a criminal reference); *In re Petition of Atty. Gen. for Investigative Subpoenas*, 736 N.W.2d 594, 602 (Mich. Ct. App. 2007) (holding that subpoenas issued pursuant to the department of Public Health's investigation did not implicate due process unless and until the department filed a formal complaint initiating an adjudicatory process).

As these courts explain, using subpoena power to conduct an investigation does not implicate due process rights because investigation alone "cannot result in an adjudication of respondent's legal rights." *In re Petition of Atty. Gen.*, 736 N.W.2d at 602. Thus, these courts reason that it is irrelevant that subsequent adjudicatory action may be taken as a result of the investigation because any subsequent adjudication will require notice and a hearing, which afford the respondent due process. *Id.*; *see also Aponte*, 284 F.3d at 193 ("For plaintiffs to be held legally responsible, they would have to be found guilty after a formal adjudication during which full due process rights would attach.").

///

28
Robison, Simons,
Sharp & Brust
71 Washington St.

Reno, NV 89503 (775) 329-3151

And, when it comes to medical boards which have the authority to both investigate and initiate adjudicatory proceedings like the Board in Nevada, courts overwhelmingly reject the contention that physicians are entitled to the full panoply of due process during the investigatory period. See, e.g., Gray v. Sup. Ct., 23 Cal. Rptr. 3d 50, 54 (Ct. App. 2005) (noting that a physician cannot bring a due process challenge until formal charges were filed against him by the medical board); Gilmore v. Composite State Bd. of Med. Exam'rs, 254 S.E.2d 365, 366 (Ga. 1979) (holding that a physician was not "denied due process because he is not permitted to participate in selecting the documents to be collected by the investigator or to participate in the deliberations prior to the decision to initiate proceedings against him"); Humenansky, 525 N.W.2d at 566 (holding that a physician was not entitled to due process protections during the preliminary investigation of a complaint against her); In re Ambrose, No. A-1271-04T5, 2005 WL 3730513, at \*6 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. Feb. 3, 2006) (holding that a physician was not entitled to full due process protections during the state medical board committee's investigation of a complaint against him).

Here, the I.C. has no authority to adjudicate any legal rights. *See* NRS 630.311(1); NRS 630.352(1). It is tasked with gathering evidence and investigating whether there is any merit to a complaint filed against a

physician. *Id.* As the I.C. specifically explained to Dr. Sarfo, it "makes no determination as to whether or not there has been a violation of the Medical Practice Act, prior to the completion of our investigation." 1 JA 32. The I.C.'s role is simply to determine whether there is any merit to the complaint against a physician which would warrant the filing of a formal complaint. NRS 630.311(2). However, once that formal complaint is filed, the matter comes before the full Board for a formal hearing process which indisputably affords due process. *See* NRS 630.339-630.356. The I.C. cannot participate in that adjudicatory process. NRS 630.352(1).

No formal complaint has been filed against Dr. Sarfo for the concerns noted in the subpoena. The Board is merely in the investigatory stages to determine if there is any merit to the complaint against Dr. Sarfo.

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